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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

CHRISTEN BURTON, individually and on Case No. 1:25-cv-1706 (AMN/ TWD)
behalf of herself and all others similarly
situated, CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT

Plaintiff, Jury Trial Demanded
V.

ST. MARY’S HEALTHCARE,

Defendant.

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT

Plaintiff Christen Burton (“Plaintiff”’), by the undersigned attorneys, on her own behalf
and behalf of all others similarly situated, upon personal knowledge with respect to herself, and
upon information and belief as to all other matters, brings this class action against Defendant St.
Mary’s Healthcare (“Defendant”), pursuant to the Fair Credit Reporting Act (“FCRA”), 15 U.S.C.
§ 1681 et seq., and alleges as follows:

NATURE OF THE ACTION

1. Over 50 years ago, in enacting the FCRA, Congress recognized that with the
“establishment of all sorts of computerized data banks, the individual is in great danger of having
his life and character reduced to impersonal ‘blips’ and key-punch holes in a stolid and unthinking
machine which can literally ruin his reputation without cause, and make him unemployable[.]”
116 Cong. Rec. 36570 (1970).

2. Congress was particularly concerned with the expanding practice ! of “credit

' Today, approximately three billion consumer credit reports are issued annually in the United
States. Moreover, every month, credit reporting agencies receive roughly 1.3 billion updates
regarding 200+ million consumer files—an average of fifteen changes per file. National Consumer
Law Center, Fair Credit Reporting § 1.2.2 (10" ed. 2022), updated at www.nclc.org/library.
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reporting,” noting in a Senate Report accompanying the landmark legislation that a consumer’s
future employment could be jeopardized by an incomplete (or otherwise erroneous) credit or
consumer report. S. Report 91-517 at 4 (1970).

3. Notably, Congress amended the FCRA in 1996, upon recognizing “the
significant amount of inaccurate information that was being reported by consumer reporting
agencies and the difficulties that consumers faced getting such errors corrected.” S. Rep. No. 108-
166 at 5-6 (2003). Specifically, prospective employers were, inter alia, obtaining and using
consumer reports in a manner that violated the privacy rights of job applicants. S. Rep. No. 104-
185 at 35 (1995).

4. Consequently, when relying on consumer reports to make hiring and subsequent
employment-related decisions, the FCRA now requires employers to: (i) disclose to consumers, in
writing, that their consumer reports may be obtained for employment purposes; (ii) obtain
authorization from consumers prior to procuring their reports; (iii) give notice to consumers before
and upon taking adverse actions related to their reports; and (iv) provide consumers with copies of
their reports and a reasonable time to address the information contained therein. See 15 U.S.C. §
1681b(b)(1)-(3).

5. Despite these and other prohibitions, Defendant violated the FCRA by, inter alia,
failing to: (i) comply with the FCRA’s authorization requirements in obtaining the permission of
Plaintiff and other consumers to procure their consumer reports for legal employment purposes;
(i1) provide copies of consumer reports to Plaintiff and other consumers prior to taking adverse
employment action against them based on such reports; and (iii) certify that Defendant complied

with the FCRA’s mandates prior to obtaining copies of consumer reports referencing Plaintiff and
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other consumers.

6. Upon information and belief, Defendant’s actions in violation of the FCRA are part
of a pattern of practice undertaken with numerous other individuals. As such, Plaintiff, on her own
behalf and behalf of all others similarly situated, files this Class Action Complaint seeking
statutory damages, punitive damages, costs and attorneys’ fees, and all other relief available
pursuant to the FCRA.

PARTIES

7. Plaintiff Christen Burton is, and was at all relevant times, a resident of New York.
Plaintiff was the subject of a consumer report? procured by Defendant.

8. Defendant St. Mary’s Healthcare is engaged in the business of healthcare in New
York and can be served through its registered agent, Corporation Service Company, 80 State
Street, Albany, NY 12207-2543. Upon information and belief, Defendant employs approximately
1,750 individuals.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

0. This Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 because
it is a civil action arising under the laws of the United States.
10. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant because Defendant is

headquartered in this District and operates in this District.

2 The FCRA defines “consumer report” as “any written, oral, or other communication of any
information by a consumer reporting agency bearing on a consumer’s credit worthiness, credit
standing, credit capacity, character, general reputation, personal characteristics, or mode of living
which is used or expected to be used or collected in whole or in part for the purpose of serving as
a factor in establishing the consumer’s eligibility for ...(B) employment purposes[.]” 15 U.S.C. §
1681(d)(1)(B).
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11.  Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) because a substantial
part of the acts or omissions giving rise to the claims alleged herein occurred within this District,

and Defendant is subject to personal jurisdiction here.

LEGAL AUTHORITY

12.  The FCRA is “undeniably a remedial statute that must be read in a liberal manner
in order to effectuate the congressional intent underlying it.” Cortez v. TransUnion, 617 F.3d 688,
722 (3d Cir. 2010).

13. Section 1681b(b)(1) of the FCRA dictates when a consumer reporting agency> may
provide a consumer report to an employer for employment purposes as follows:

(A) the person who obtains such report from the agency certifies to the
agency that—

(1) the person has complied with paragraph (2) with respect to the
consumer report, and the person will comply with paragraph (3)
with respect to the consumer report if paragraph (3) becomes
applicable; and

(i1) information from the consumer report will not be used in
violation of any applicable Federal or State equal employment
opportunity law or regulation; and

(B) the consumer reporting agency provides with the report, or has
previously provided, a summary of the consumer’s rights under this
subchapter, as prescribed by the Bureau under section 1681g(c)(3) [1] of
this title.

15 U.S.C. § 1681b(b)(1) (emphasis added).

14.  Absent said certification from an employer, the consumer reporting agency must

3 The FCRA defines “consumer reporting agency” as “any person which, for monetary fees, dues,
or on a cooperative nonprofit basis, regularly engages in whole or in part in the practice of
assembling or evaluating consumer credit information or other information on consumers for the
purpose of furnishing consumer reports to third parties, and which uses any means or facility of
interstate commerce for the purpose of preparing or furnishing consumer reports.” 15 U.S.C. §

1681(a)(f).
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deny access to a consumer’s personal information. See id. It is the “false certification of
compliance” which creates liability under the FCRA. See U.S. ex rel. Hopper v. Anton, 91 F.3d
1261, 1266 (9th Cir. 1996).

15. Section 1681b(b)(2)(A) of the FCRA regulates the conduct of persons who procure
a consumer report about employees or prospective employees as follows:

Except as provided in subparagraph (B), a person may not procure a

consumer report, or cause a consumer report to be procured, for

employment purposes with respect to any consumer, unless—
(1) a clear and conspicuous disclosure has been made in writing to
the consumer at any time before the report is procured or caused to
be procured, in a document that consists solely of the disclosure, that
a consumer report may be obtained for employment purposes; and
(i1) the consumer has authorized in writing (which authorization
may be made on the document referred to in clause (i)) the
procurement of the report by that person.

15 U.S.C § 1681b(b)(2)(A) (emphasis added).

16. The FCRA'’s disclosure requirement places consumers on notice that a consumer
report may be obtained as part of the employment application process. In turn, the FCRA’s
authorization requirement provides consumers with an opportunity to consent to the lawful use of
their personal information for limited purposes. See id.

17. Section 1681b(b)(3) regulates the conduct of persons intending to take an adverse
employment action against any employee or prospective employee based on a consumer report as
follows:

Except as provided in subparagraph (B), in using a consumer report for
employment purposes, before taking any adverse action* based in whole or

in part on the report, the person intending to take such adverse action shall
provide to the consumer to whom the report relates—

415 US.C. § 1681b(k)(1)(B)(ii) defines adverse action, in pertinent part, as “a denial of
employment or any other decision for employment purposes that adversely affects any current or
prospective employee.”
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(1) a copy of the report; and
(i1) a description in writing of the rights of the consumer under this
subchapter, as prescribed by the Bureau under section 1681g(c)(3) 1
of this title.
15 U.S.C. § 1681b(b)(3) (emphasis added).
18. As a practical matter, Section 1681b(b)(3) provides consumers with a reasonable
amount of time to review their consumer reports and address any incomplete, inaccurate, or
misleading information therein, as well as to discuss any alleged errors with prospective employers

before any adverse employment action is taken. See id.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

19.  Plaintiff applied for employment online with Defendant in early September of 2025
for a position at its location in Amsterdam, New York.

20.  Plaintiff followed up on her online application by making phone calls to
Defendant’s Human Resources Department.

21. Plaintiff received a phone call from Defendant’s Human Resources Department that
set up an in-person interview with Kaitlin Pennock at Defendant’s office on September 5, 2025.

22. Following the job interview, Plaintiff explained over the phone to Michelle Wetsky,
an employee of Defendant’s Human Resource Department, that she had a criminal history, after
Plaintiff’s explanation Ms. Wetsky stated, we are very forgiving place you should continue with
your application for employment.

23. Defendant’s Human Resources Department called Plaintiff and offered her a job
the day after the interview.

24. On September 9, 2025, Plaintiff received onboarding forms by email from
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Defendant.

25.  Plaintiff completed and returned the onboarding forms to Defendant the same day
they were received.

26. On September 9, 2025, Plaintiff received an email that stated her start date with
Defendant would be Monday, September 22, 2025, pending completion of all onboarding
requirements.

27.  Plaintiff completed a scheduled health assessment required by Defendant on
September 12, 2025.

28.  During the health assessment, Plaintiff received a flu shot that she did not want to
receive, but was required by Defendant before beginning employment.

29. On the afternoon of September 15, 2025, Commercial Investigations, the consumer
reporting agency who provided Defendant with the consumer report regarding Plaintiff
(“Consumer Report”), issued a 15 U.S.C. §1681k notice to Plaintiff that public information that
may have an adverse effect on her employment was provided to Defendant.

30. Defendant had paid Commercial Investigations a fee for Plaintiff’s Consumer
Report.

31. Less than twenty-four hours after receiving the 1681k notice, on the morning of
September 16, 2025, Plaintiff received a phone call from Defendant’s Human Resources
Department and was told that Defendant was rescinding her job offer because of unfavorable
information in her Consumer Report.

32. During this phone call, Plaintiff was not informed by Defendant that the adverse
action could be challenged.

33. Plaintiff believed the adverse action communicated by Defendant during the
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September 16, 2025 phone call was a final decision.

34, Later, during the afternoon of September 16, 2025, Plaintiff received an email from
Defendant with a link attached, the email referenced the earlier phone conversation during which
Plaintiff had been informed her job offer was rescinded because of unfavorable information in the
Consumer Report.

35. The September 16, 2025 email also included a link to a web portal, on the web
portal was a button to view the Consumer Report, a plus sign with the word documents next to it,
and a list of what appear to be hyperlinks that are non-responsive when clicked.

36. The link that was included in the September 16, 2025 email had a pre-adverse action
letter that was concealed within the plus sign next to the word documents, that once the plus sign
was clicked, opened to display a list of previously concealed documents.

37.  Plaintiff’s Consumer Report reveals that Defendant did not initiate the pre-adverse
action process until 2:54 p.m. on September 16, 2025.

38. In other words, Defendant did not initiate the pre-adverse action process until after
Defendant called and rescinded Plaintift’s job offer the morning of September 16, 2025.

39. Defendant did not provide Plaintiff a copy of the Consumer Report prior to the
adverse action.

40. On September 30, 2025, Plaintiff received an email link that led to the same web
portal as the previous emailed link.

41. The web portal looked the same and an adverse action letter was concealed within
the plus sign next to the word documents, that once clicked, opened to display the concealed
document.

42. If an applicant does not click the plus sign on the web portal the applicant would
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never see the pre-adverse or adverse action letters.

43.  Plaintiff’s Consumer Report is misleading and includes conflicting information.

44. On information and belief, Commercial Investigations recommends a 7-10-year
search of applicant criminal histories for employers.

45.  Although the Consumer Report represents that the criminal history search was
restricted to a ten-year look back period, it nonetheless includes multiple pieces of unfavorable,
misleading, and conflicting information regarding Plaintiff preceding that period.

46. The inclusion of unfavorable information in the Consumer Report preceding the
ten-year look back period paints a false and negative picture of Plaintiff.

47. The inclusion of criminal history preceding a 7-10-year look back period would be
misleading to an employer.

48. The Consumer Report also improperly references petty crimes committed by
Plaintiff that are over twenty years old.

49. Notably, the Consumer Report’s inclusion of petty crimes that occurred over twenty
years ago conflicts with the purpose of New York Correction Law Article 23-A.

50. New York Correction Law Article 23-A §§ 751-753 provides Plaintiff with
protections regarding the consideration of criminal history in employment-related decisions.
Factors to be considered by an employer include: whether the crime relates to prospective job
duties, the time elapsed between the crime and the job application, the age of the person at the time
of the crime, and the seriousness of the crime. See id.

51. Plaintiff was unaware the FCRA provided a right to receive a copy of the Consumer
Report before the adverse action was taken by Defendant. Plaintiff was also confused as to

whether the information included in the Consumer Report could be challenged. As a result,
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Plaintiff was denied the opportunity and ability to contest, correct, or explain the information in
the Consumer Report before suffering the adverse action.

52. The September 16, 2025, adverse action phone call made by Defendant that
occurred before the Consumer Report was provided to Plaintiff caused her to suffer downstream
consequences.

53. The September 16, 2025, adverse action phone call prevented Plaintiff from
invoking the protections of New York Correction Law Article 23-A because it occurred before
Plaintiff had received the Consumer Report and could explain why Article 23-A protections should
allow her to retain the job offer.

54.  Denying Plaintiff employment, in whole or in part, based on information in the
Consumer Report is an adverse action which creates an injury in law.

55.  Defendant’s failure to provide Plaintiff with a copy of the Consumer Report and a
summary of rights under the FCRA prior to taking adverse employment action deprived Plaintiff
of a critical opportunity to understand her rights and review, contest, explain and/or dispute the
information being used against her.

56. As a direct result of Defendant’s failure to abide by the FCRA adverse action
process, Plaintiff was left confused and unaware regarding: (i) the basis for the denial of
employment; (ii) how to challenge the action; and (iii) whether she could challenge the action.

57. Plaintiff’s lack of knowledge regarding her rights created significant emotional
distress and anxiety.

58. Defendant’s actions fundamentally undermined the fairness and transparency the
FCRA was designed to protect and caused Plaintiff to suffer both tangible losses (including the

loss of a good salary and benefits) and intangible injuries (such as loss of dignity, uncertainty about

10
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the future, and frustration over being denied a fair process).

59.  Upon information and belief, before obtaining the Consumer Report, Commercial
Investigations required Defendant to certify pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(b)(1) that: (i) the FCRA
protections provided by 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(b)(2) and § 1681b(b)(3) would be followed by
Defendant; and (ii) Plaintiff’s Consumer Report would not be used in violation of any applicable
federal or state equal employment law or regulation.

60.  Plaintiff would not have authorized Defendant to access Plaintiff’s personal
information to procure the Consumer Report if Plaintiff had known that Defendant would not
honor the legal protections Plaintiff received in exchange for said access.

61.  Defendant violated the FCRA by taking adverse action based on the Consumer
Report without first providing Plaintiff with a copy of the Consumer Report.

62.  Defendant exceeded any authorization provided by Plaintiff. Moreover, Defendant
exceeded Plaintiff’s limited consent when the personal information contained in the Consumer
Report was used in a manner that violated the FCRA.

63. The illegal use of Plaintiff’s personal information is akin to a breach of trust.

64. Defendant had a legal obligation akin to a trustee of the Consumer Report to act in
the best interests of Plaintiff by allowing Plaintiff an opportunity to review the personal
information prior to Defendant taking any adverse action.

65. Defendant breached its obligations and Plaintiff’s trust by violating the law and the
terms of the authorization which establish Defendant’s expected standards of conduct.

66. Defendant would not have had access to Plaintiff’s personal information without
obtaining a copy of the Consumer Report.

67. The illegal use of Plaintiff’s personal information is an injury in fact.

11
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68.  Upon information and belief, Defendant certified to Commercial Investigations that
it would not use Plaintiff’s Consumer Report in violation of any applicable federal or state equal
employment law or regulation.

69.  Upon information and belief, Defendant certified to Commercial Investigations that
it would abide by 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(b)(3), if that section of the FCRA became applicable.

70.  Upon information and belief, Defendant also contractually agreed to abide by 15
U.S.C. § 1681b(b)(3) (i.e., to provide a copy of the consumer report to the applicant prior to taking
adverse action) and other notice provisions if allowed access to Plaintiff’s personal information.

71.  Defendant’s certification was false because Defendant did not abide by the FCRA
adverse action requirements.

72. Defendant violated the provisions of 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(b)(3) when Defendant
failed to provide Plaintiff with a copy of the Consumer Report before taking adverse action.

73.  Upon information and belief, Commercial Investigations would not have provided
Defendant access to Plaintiff’s Consumer Report if Defendant had failed to certify that Defendant
would abide by the FCRA’s adverse action procedures.

74. Defendant’s actions deprived Plaintiff of a meaningful opportunity to invoke the
discretion of the decision maker before termination.

75. Defendant violated its statutory and contractual obligations by systematically
violating the provisions of the FCRA, despite having received the benefits of obtaining regulated
personal information concerning Plaintiff.

76. Plaintiff’s authorization was a contractual agreement by which Defendant agreed
to provide the protections ensured by the FCRA in exchange for access to Plaintiff’s personal

information.

12
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77.  Defendant’s use of Plaintiff’s Consumer Report in violation of the FCRA’s adverse
action procedures breached the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing.

78.  Defendant breached the parties’ covenant of good faith and fair dealing when it
used Plaintiff’s limited authorization to procure the Consumer Report and thereafter failed to
timely provide Plaintiff with a copy.

79.  Defendant breached the parties’ covenant of good faith and fair dealing when it
used Plaintiff’s limited authorization to procure the Consumer Report and subsequently denied
Plaintiff an opportunity to review, dispute, explain, and/or otherwise address the personal
information contained therein.

80.  Plaintiff did not receive the protections to which Plaintiff was entitled, by law and
contract, because of Defendant’s actions.

81.  Defendant is aware of its need to comply with the FCRA because, on information
and belief, Defendant executed a certification with Commercial Investigations that requires
Defendant to abide by the requirements of the FCRA.

82. Defendant’s violations of the FCRA, combined with its knowledge of the
requirements of the FCRA, are evidence that Defendant’s violations were reckless.

83. Upon information and belief, the manner in which Defendant took adverse action
against Plaintiff is consistent with Defendant’s policies and procedures.

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

84. Class Definitions: Pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23, Plaintiff
proposes the following class definitions:

ADVERSE ACTION CLASS: All individuals against whom Defendant took an

adverse action based on information in their consumer report for the period of the

previous two years prior to the date of filing, through the conclusion of this matter,
and did not receive a copy of the consumer report prior to the adverse action.

13
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AUTHORIZATION CLASS: All individuals who were the subject of one or more
consumer reports in which Defendant exceeded the authorization obtained from
consumers for the period of the previous two years prior to the date of filing,
through the conclusion of this matter.

CERTIFICATION CLASS: All individuals who were the subject of one or more

consumer reports in which Defendant falsely represented that Defendant would

comply with 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(b)(3) for the period of the previous two years prior

to the date of filing, through the conclusion of this matter.

85.  As used herein, the term “Proposed Classes” shall refer to the aforementioned
putative classes.

86.  Plaintiff reserves the right to amend the class definitions before the Court
determines whether certification is appropriate, if discovery or further investigation reveals that
the Proposed Classes should be expanded or otherwise modified.

87.  Excluded from the Proposed Classes are: (i) Defendant, its parents, subsidiaries,
affiliates, officers, and directors; (ii) those who make a timely election to be excluded from the
Proposed Classes, and (iii) any member of the judiciary presiding over this action.

88.  Numerosity: The Proposed Classes are so numerous that joinder of all members of
each class is impracticable. Defendant, which employs approximately 1,750 individuals annually,
regularly obtains and uses personal information in consumer reports to conduct background checks
on prospective and current employees. Defendant also regularly obtains consumer reports via false
certifications and relies on the personal information therein, in whole or in part, as a basis for
adverse employment action. Given the broad scope and nature of Defendant’s business, Plaintiff
believes that at least 100 individuals would fall within the definitions of the Proposed Classes
during the relevant time period. Members of the Proposed Classes can be identified through

Defendant’s records.

89. Common Questions of Law and Fact: Virtually all issues of law and fact in this

14
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class action predominate over any questions affecting individual members of the
Proposed Classes. The questions of law and fact common to the Proposed Classes include:

a. Whether Defendant takes adverse employment actions based on
information in consumer reports;

b. Whether Defendant violated the FCRA by taking adverse actions
against Plaintiff and other individual members of the Proposed
Classes based on information in a consumer report without first

providing them with a copy of the report;

c. Whether Defendant obtained consumer reports via a false 15 U.S.C.
§ 1681b(b)(1) certification;

d. Whether Defendant’s actions exceeded the limited scope of the
authorization for procuring the consumer reports;

e. Whether Defendant's actions were reckless; and
f. The proper measure of damages.

90. Typicality: Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the members of the Proposed Classes
in that Plaintiff is entitled to relief under the same causes of action and upon the same facts. For
example, the FCRA violations suffered by Plaintiff are typical of those suffered by other members
of the Proposed Classes. Defendant typically fails to provide consumers with a copy of their
consumer reports prior to taking adverse action against them based on information in the reports.
Additionally, before obtaining the consumer reports, Defendant typically certified that the reports
would be used for employment purposes and that Defendant would abide by 15 U.S.C. §
1681b(b)(2) and (3). Finally, Defendant treated Plaintiff consistent with other members of the
Proposed Classes in accordance with Defendant’s standard policies and practices.

91. Adequacy of Representation: Plaintiff is an adequate representative of the
Proposed Classes because Plaintiff’s interests coincide with, and are not antagonistic to, the

interests of the members of the Proposed Classes. Plaintiff has retained attorneys competent and

15
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experienced in FCRA class action litigation. Plaintiff and Plaintiff’s counsel will fairly and
adequately protect the interests of all members of the Proposed Classes.

92. Superiority: A class action is superior to all other available methods for the fair
and efficient adjudication of this controversy because joinder of all parties is impracticable.
Moreover, questions of law and fact common to the members of the Proposed Classes
overwhelmingly predominate over individual questions that may arise. Specifically, Defendant’s
conduct as described herein stems from common and uniform policies and practices which resulted
in common violations of the FCRA.

93.  Even if members of the Proposed Classes were able or willing to pursue individual
cases, a class action would still be preferable given that a multiplicity of individual actions would
likely increase the expense and time of litigation in light of the complex legal and factual
controversies presented. Conversely, a class action provides the benefits of fewer management
difficulties, single adjudication, economy of scale, and comprehensive supervision before a single
trier of fact, and would result in reduced time, effort, and expense for all parties and the Court, and
ultimately, the uniformity of decisions.

94, Plaintiff seeks statutory damages, punitive damages, costs and attorneys’ fees, and
all other relief available pursuant to the FCRA on behalf of all members of the Proposed Classes.

95. Plaintiff intends to send notice to all members of the Proposed Classes to the extent
required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 23. The names and addresses of the members can be identified through
Defendant's records.

Count |
ADVERSE ACTION
(On Behalf of Plaintiff and the Adverse Action Class)

96.  Plaintiff incorporates the foregoing paragraphs 7-95 of this Class Action Complaint

16
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as if fully set forth herein.

97.  Defendant obtained consumer reports concerning Plaintiff and the Adverse Action
Class.

98.  Defendant used the consumer reports to take adverse action against Plaintiff and
the Adverse Action Class.

99.  Defendant violated the FCRA by failing to provide Plaintiff and the Adverse Action
Class with copies of their consumer reports before taking the adverse action.

100. Defendant violated the FCRA by failing to provide Plaintiff and the Adverse Action
Class with reasonable time to review and address the information in their consumer reports.

101. Defendant violated the FCRA by failing to provide Plaintiff and the Adverse Action
Class with reasonable time to dispute their consumer reports.

102. Had Defendant complied with the FCRA, Plaintiff and the Adverse Action Class
would have been given time to review, explain, dispute and/or otherwise address the information
contained in their consumer reports.

103.  Plaintiff and the Adverse Action Class would have never permitted Defendant to
obtain copies of their consumer reports had they known that Defendant’s policy was to take
adverse employment actions in violation of the FCRA.

104. Defendant’s failure to comply with the mandates of the FCRA injured Plaintiff and
the Adverse Action Class.

105. Defendant acted in deliberate or reckless disregard of Defendant’s obligations
under the law and the rights of Plaintiff and the Adverse Action Class.

106. Defendant’s deliberate or reckless conduct is reflected by, among other things, the

following facts:

17
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a. Defendant has access to legal advice;

b. Defendant has ignored regulatory guidance from FTC Informal Staff
Opinions and the unambiguous language of the FCRA;

c. 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(b)(1) required Defendant to certify that the
protections of 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(b)(3) would be followed; and

107.  Plaintiff and the Adverse Action Class are entitled to statutory damages of not less
than $100 and not more than $1000 for each of Defendant’s violations pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §
1681n(a)(1)(A).

108.  Plaintiff and the Adverse Action Class are also entitled to punitive damages for
Defendant’s violations pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1681n(a)(2).

109. Plaintiff and the Adverse Action Class are further entitled to recover their costs and
attorneys’ fees pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1681n(a)(3).

COUNT I
AUTHORIZATION VIOLATIONS
(On Behalf of Plaintiff and the Authorization Class)

110. Plaintiff incorporates the foregoing paragraphs 7-95 as if fully set forth herein.

111. Defendant procured consumer reports concerning Plaintiff and the Authorization
Class under false pretenses.

112.  Plaintiff and the Authorization Class would never have permitted Defendant to
obtain copies of their consumer reports had they known that Defendant exceeded their
authorization in violation of the FCRA.

113. Plaintiff and the Authorization Class would never have permitted Defendant to

obtain copies of their consumer reports had they known that Defendant would not honor the

FCRA'’s authorization requirements and protections.

18
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114. Plaintiff and the Authorization Class would never have authorized Defendant to
obtain copies of their consumer reports if they had known that Defendant: (i) would violate the
provisions of the FCRA; (i1) was obtaining their consumer reports in violation of the law; and (iii)
had a policy, pattern, and practice of taking adverse actions in violation of the FCRA.

115. Defendant’s actions exceeded the scope of the limited consent granted by Plaintiff
and the Authorization Class.

116. Defendant acted in deliberate or reckless disregard of Defendant’s obligations and
the rights of Plaintiff and the Authorization Class under the provisions of the FCRA. Defendant's
deliberate or reckless conduct is reflected by, among other things, the following facts:

a. Defendant has access to legal advice;

b. Defendant has ignored regulatory guidance from FTC Informal Staff
Opinions and the unambiguous language of the FCRA; and

C. 15 US.C. § 1681b certification addresses the requirement of
obtaining and using a consumer report.

117.  Plaintiff and the Authorization Class are entitled to statutory damages of not less
than $100 and not more than $1000 for each of Defendant’s violations pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §
1681n(a)(1)(A).

118. Plaintiff and the Authorization Class are also entitled to punitive damages for
Defendant’s violations pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1681n(a)(2).

119.  Plaintiff and the Authorization Class are further entitled to recover their costs and
attorneys’ fees pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1681n(a)(3).

Count 111
CERTIFICATION VIOLATIONS

(On Behalf of Plaintiff and the Certification Class)

120. Plaintiff incorporates the foregoing paragraphs 7-95 of this Class Action Complaint
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as if fully set forth herein.

121.  Consumer reporting agencies are legally prohibited from providing employment-
related consumer reports without first obtaining the certifications required by 15 U.S.C. §
1681b(b)(1).

122.  Prior to obtaining an applicant’s consumer report for employment purposes, per 15
U.S.C. § 1681b(b)(1), Defendant was required to provide to the consumer reporting agency
certification: (i) of the purpose for obtaining the report; and (ii) that Defendant would abide by
FCRA protections.

123.  According to the provisions of 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(b)(1), Defendant cannot obtain
an applicant’s consumer report until Defendant has certified that Defendant complied with the
mandates of 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(b)(2).

124.  According to the provisions of 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(b)(1), Defendant cannot obtain
an applicant’s consumer report until Defendant has certified Defendant will comply with the
mandates of 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(b)(3), if that section becomes applicable.

125.  According to the provisions of 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(b)(1), Defendant cannot obtain
an applicant’s consumer report until Defendant has certified that information from the consumer
report will not be used in violation of any applicable federal or state equal employment opportunity
law or regulation.

126.  On information and belief, prior to obtaining consumer reports concerning Plaintiff
and the Certification Class, Defendant certified that Defendant had complied with 15 U.S.C. §
1681b(b)(2) and would comply with 15 U.S.C § 1681b(b)(3), if that section became applicable.

127.  On information and belief, prior to obtaining consumer reports concerning Plaintiff

and the Certification Class, Defendant also certified that personal information regarding Plaintiff
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and the Certification Class would not be used in violation of any applicable federal or state equal
opportunity employment law or regulation.

128. Defendant knew that it would not comply with the mandates of 15 U.S.C. §
1681b(b)(1) prior to obtaining copies of consumer reports concerning Plaintiff and the
Certification Class.

129. Defendant, therefore, made false certifications to obtain and use consumer reports
concerning Plaintiff and the Certification Class for employment purposes.

130.  The provisions of 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(b)(1) are intended to protect the privacy rights
of Plaintiff and the Certification Class.

131.  The provisions of 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(b)(1) are intended to protect the statutory right
of Plaintiff and the Certification Class to review protected information.

132.  Plaintiff and the Certification Class were injured by Defendant’s practice of
obtaining consumer reports via false certifications.

133.  Absent Defendant’s false certifications, Defendant would not have gained access
to consumer reports concerning Plaintiff and the Certification Class, and Plaintiff and the
Certification Class would not have suffered an adverse employment action.

134. Plaintiff and the Certification Class would have never permitted Defendant to
obtain copies of their consumer reports had they known that Defendant: (i) would violate the
provisions of the FCRA; (ii) was obtaining their reports in violation of the law; and (iii) had a
pattern, policy, and practice of taking adverse actions in violation of the FCRA.

135. Moreover, Plaintiff and the Certification Class would have never permitted
Defendant to obtain a copy of their consumer reports had they known that Defendant would deny

them the opportunity to dispute their reports before taking any adverse action.
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136. Defendant’s failure to comply with the unambiguous mandates of the FCRA injured
Plaintiff and the Certification Class.
137. Defendant acted in deliberate or reckless disregard of Defendant’s obligations and
the rights of Plaintiff and the Certification Class.
138.  Defendant's reckless conduct is reflected by, among other things, the following:
a. Defendant has access to legal advice;

b. Defendant has ignored regulatory guidance from FTC Informal Staff
Opinions and the unambiguous language of the FCRA; and

C. Defendant made certifications per 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(b)(1) that it
purposely violated.

139.  Plaintiff and the Certification Class are entitled to statutory damages of not less
than $100 and not more than $1000 for each of Defendant’s violations pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §
1681n(a)(1)(A).

140. Plaintiff and the Certification Class are also entitled to punitive damages for
Defendant’s violations pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1681n(a)(2).

141. Plaintiff and the Certification Class are further entitled to recover their costs and
attorneys’ fees pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1681n(a)(3).

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, on behalf of herself and those similarly situated, respectfully

requests that this Court enter judgment against Defendant as follows:

a. Certifying the Adverse Action Class, Authorization Class, and Certification
Class under Rule 23(b)(1) and (3) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure;

b. Designating Plaintiff as class representative and designating Plaintiff’s
undersigned counsel as counsel for the Proposed Classes;

C. Finding that Defendant committed multiple, separate violations of the
FCRA as to each Proposed Class Member;
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d. Finding that Defendant acted in deliberate or reckless disregard of
Defendant’s obligations under the FCRA and the rights of Plaintiff and the
Proposed Classes;

e. Awarding statutory damages as provided by the FCRA;

f. Awarding punitive damages as provided by the FCRA;

g. Awarding reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs as provided by the FCRA;
and
h. Granting other and further relief, in law or equity, as this Court may deem

just, equitable, and/or appropriate.

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Plaintiff hereby demands a jury trial on all Counts so triable.

Dated: December 8, 2025 Respectfully submitted,

By: /s/ Jayson A. Watkins
Jayson A. Watkins MO 61434
SIRI & GLIMSTAD LLP
745 Fifth Avenue, Suite 500
New York, NY 10151

Direct: 816-281-7162

Email: jwatkins@sirillp.com

Attorneys for Plaintiff

23



